$oldsymbol{ ext{FILED}}_{ ext{ iny SID J. WHITE}}$

SEP 10 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By— Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

The Florida Bar Case No. 92-70,352 (11B)

vs.

Supreme Court Case No. 80,857

BARRY D. SCHREIBER,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted,

Barry D. Schreiber, Respondent Pro Se

TFB: 132515

32 /11 Bialik Street

Ramat Gan, Israel 52442

Tel.: 972-3-673-6156

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT NOT PROVED

The Florida Bar did not prove the allegations of the complaint filed against Respondent. Since the referee's findings of fact and guilt were based on the allegations of the complaint, the referee's report is erroneous, unlawful and unjustified.

The theory of the complaint dated December 4, 1992 is that Respondent committed a criminal act, which criminal act resulted in a violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, which reflected adversely on Respondent's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as lawyer. In paragraph 7 of the complaint, the Florida Bar admits that adjudication of guilt was withheld. But the Florida Bar refused to admit or even introduce into evidence, the order dated January 8, 1992 sealing and expunging the record (intentional omission or mere oversight?), (appendix 2) by virtue of adjudication being withheld and by legal effect of the order sealing and expunging the record. Respondent was not guilty of having committed a criminal act, did not commit a criminal act and had no criminal record. Therefore, despite what the Florida Bar states on p.46 1.20-25 of the transcript, the Florida Bar did not prove (nor could prove) that Respondent committed a criminal act "actually on two occasions". Hence the allegations of the complaint must fall and the referee's report rejected and Respondent found not guilty.

2. <u>VIOLATION OF RULE 4-8.4(b) OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL</u> CONDUCT NOT PROVED

The Florida Bar did not prove that Respondent committed any criminal act of misconduct or any other act, in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) that reflected on Respondent's fitness as a lawyer.

For purposes of argument only (it is not stipulated that Respondent could be found guilty of any act not alleged in the complaint) assuming the complaint filed against Respondent included action by Respondent not resulting in the commitment of a criminal act (in its legal definition), the record still does not substantiate any conduct by Respondent which violated Rule 4-8.4(b). Whatever conduct complained of was not conduct related to "law practice offenses which severely adversely reflect on (Respondent's) fitness to practice law". Although the contrary maybe the Florida Bar's position, there is no testimony or any proof whatsoever in this regard. No testimony shows any connection to Respondent's fitness as a lawyer.

3. RESPONDENT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS. THE RIGHT TO CROSS EXAMINE HIS ACCUSERS...

Respondent was denied his civil rights, due process of law, the right to confront and cross examine his accusers and the right to be heard. Respondent was punished for being financially unable to travel to the hearings of March 31, 1993 and April 29, 1993. Respondent was punished for being financially unable to pay for an expensive long distance telephone call to the referee as ordered by the referee for the April 29, 1993 telephonic hearing. The referee abused her discretion in ordering Respondent to pay for the long distance call, for punishing Respondent beyond the initial requests made by the Florida Bar, of a 30 day suspension without any notice to Respondent and for not granting Respondent's motion for continuance.

4. RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINARY MEASURES ARE ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL, UNJUSTIFIED AND PREJUDICED

The referee' report of May 26, 1993 recommending the harsh disciplinary measures against Respondent are erroneous, unlawful, unjustified and prejudiced. Since Respondent did not commit a criminal act, nor engage in any conduct in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b), no disciplinary measures at all are in order. But if, for purposes of argument only, Respondent was guilty of committing a criminal act in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b), as alleged in the complaint, the recommended disciplinary measures are still too harsh, too cruel, out of proportion with and no relationship to the alleged conduct. They are unjustified. They are tantamount to disbarment! What relationship is there Respondent's alleged conduct (or committed conduct) and retaking the Florida Bar examination including the ethic's portion? Does the ethic's portion include conduct between lovers? There is no precedent for such disciplinary measures meted out under such allegations of misconduct.

ARGUMENT

It is clear that the theory (cause of action) of the 1. complaint filed against Respondent by the Florida Bar dated December 4, 1992 is that Respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct by (a) committing a criminal act which (b) criminal act reflected adversely on Respondent's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness lawyer. If the Florida Bar did not prove, or could not prove both (a) the commission of a criminal act and (b) which reflected adversely on Respondent's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer, then the complaint must fail, referee's report rejected and Respondent found not guilty. Neither the Florida Bar, nor the referee can now allege or find that other acts committed by respondent, such as described by the witness in the record, (transcript March 31. 1993 p.11-24), which did not result in Respondent having committed a criminal act (in the legal sense) could be the basis of finding Respondent guilty of Rule 4-8.4(b). The Florida Bar did not plead "in the alternative". complaint describes in paragraph 2 a January 25, 1991 incident which resulted in "a glass being knocked from the witness's hand". Such action is certainly not a criminal Nor did this incident result in any criminal act. proceedings.

[It must be stated now, that Respondent's argument in this section is based upon the alleged acts described by the complaint and testified to by the witness in the record (transcript of March 31, 1993 p.11-24) being accepted by Respondent only for purposes of this argument. It is Respondent's position that these acts did not occur as described by the complaint or by the witness. Nor was Respondent afforded due process to cross examine the witnesses or give testimony as to his version of the facts (see argument 3 infra)].

In paragraph 3 of the complaint the incident of February 13, 1993 is described. In paragraph 5 the next element of the complaint is stated, "criminal proceedings against Respondent were instituted for violation of F.S. 784.03(1)". In paragraph 6, it is admitted by the Florida Bar that Respondent pleaded "no contest". In Paragraph 7, the Florida Bar admits that the judge withheld adjudication. Thereafter in Paragraph 8, the complaint unequivocally states, "by reason of the forgoing Respondent has violated Rule 4-8.4(b)".

It is an accepted legal principle that at this point Respondent had not committed (had not been found guilty of) a criminal act. Adjudication was withheld. Respondent was not found guilty by a court of competent jurisdiction. As such the complaint must fail. But Respondent's position is strengthened and supported even further. The Broward County

Court, Judge Backman, entered an order dated January 8, 1992. sealing and expunging the record (see appendix 2). Respondent was restored to the status occupied by Respondent prior to the misdemeanor charges being filed and "shall not be held henceforth guilty...". The order is clear. Pursuant to §943.051 and Fl.R.Cr.P. 3.692, "any and all records relating or referring in any way to the arrest or prosecution of (Respondent) shall be expunged or sealed (appendix 2).

Respondent requested to have this order placed into evidence and into the record in Respondent's Motion for Directed Verdict filed by Respondent April 21, 1993.

There can be no question or doubt: Respondent has no criminal record and has committed no criminal act. Something may have happened on February 13, 1993 between Respondent and the witness. But it never resulted in Respondent being found guilty by a court of competent jurisdiction of having committed a criminal act.

Is Respondent being subjected to double jeopardy? Respondent had his day in court and was <u>not</u> found guilty. Can the Florida Bar come now and claim that Respondent did commit a criminal act, was guilty of violating F.S. 784.03(1)? Can the Florida Bar redefine "criminal act" any way it wants? Is the Florida Bar claiming that even though Respondent was not found guilty of having committed a criminal act by a court of competent jurisdiction, that as

far as the Florida Bar is concerned that decision does not matter, Query? Why did the Florida Bar omit in the complaint, and fail to place into evidence the order of January 8, 1992 sealing and expunging the record? Were they afraid that it clearly exonerated Respondent? Did they not know how to deal with it? Did the Florida Bar intentionally overlook this important document? And clearly the Florida Bar relied on the criminal proceedings, and the plea of "NOLO". The Florida Bar made a special effort, a motion and hearing before Judge Backman, to unseal the record and have the documents submitted into evidence (transcript of March 31, 1993 p.7 1.4-25).

Now let's examine the record of the hearing of March 31, 1993 in light of the allegation of the complaint. On p.46 1.20, the Florida Bar through Assistant Staff Council Ms. Randi Klayman Lazarus, states that

"the Florida Bar has presented its case and proved that (Respondent) did commit a crime, actually on two occasions...on January 25, 1991 as well as February 13, 1991".

Firstly, what crime was committed on January 25, 1991? No criminal complaint was ever filed nor was Respondent ever charged for "knocking a glass out of the witness's hand". As to the February 13, 1991 incident, it's possible that Respondent did commit some act on that date (although the actual facts and truth have yet to be learned) but it was not a crime, or at least it was not a crime in the legal sense.

The Florida Bar goes on to argue to the referee the Ralph H. Martin Case. (Supreme Court Case #88-50,402), (p.50 1.8 et seq., transcript of March 31, 1993). Only one major problem: Martin was convicted of a felony! The Florida Bar was correct in prosecuting Martin. He had his day in court and was found guilty. Adjudication was not withheld, nor was the record sealed or expunged.

The nerve of the Florida Bar to compare Respondent to the Martin Case. Martin was found guilty of a felony. Respondent was not found guilty of even a misdemeanor! The Supreme Court in the Martin Case was correct in upholding a 3 year suspension (although Martin never had to retake the Florida Bar examination). But here the referee is erroneous and unjustified in recommending a 120 day suspension (or any suspension).

"In this case the Florida Bar is only asking for a 30 day suspension, which is certainly entirely reasonable, given the criminal conviction..."

(transcript of March 31, 1993, p.51 l.3-10). Agreed! Respondent accedes, that if there had been a criminal conviction a 30 day suspension would have been entirely reasonable. But where is the criminal conviction? There was none and is none! And no matter how hard the Florida Bar tries they cannot create one.

The referee's report cannot go beyond the theory of the case or the literal meaning of the complaint. Either Respondent committed a criminal act or did not! Nor can the

referee set up her own standard of guilt. If there was no criminal conviction the referee can't create one. If the Florida Bar did not prove a criminal conviction the referee cannot create another cause of action based on the witness's testimony and the referee's own standards and prejudice as to Respondent's conduct and guilt of the acts complained of.

The referee's report (findings of fact) uses and traces the exact same language of the Florida Bar's complaint, (which, by the way, is the exact same language used by the witness in the civil complaint filed by the witness against Respondent - and then voluntarily dismissed with prejudice). How interesting?! In paragraph 5 of the referee's finding of fact, the referee adopts the causation fact that

"as a result of the February 13, 1991 incident criminal proceedings were instituted against Respondent for violation of F.S. 784.03(1)...".

In paragraph 7, the referee accepts the fact that adjudication was withheld. But again - no reference is made by the referee to the January 8, 1992 order sealing and expunging the record! Does it not matter to the referee that Respondent was not found guilty and indeed has no criminal record and did not commit a criminal act? May the referee go beyond the legal realities and find Respondent guilty nevertheless?

As such, the referee's order of May 26, 1993 is erroneous, unlawful, unjustified and indeed prejudiced. The recommendation of guilt should be rejected by this Honorable Court.

2. The Florida Bar did not prove and could not prove that Respondent committed a criminal act and/or was found guilty of a criminal act by a court of competent jurisdiction. Therefore Respondent's act(s), whatever act(s) may have been committed, could not have been a criminal act in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct that "reflected adverselv on Respondent's honestv. trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects". For purposes of argument only, let's say the complaint was drafted by the Florida Bar in the alternative; it included a cause of action based upon conduct by Respondent which did not result in the commission of a criminal act, or even where no charges were filed. Simply an act, any act, "criminal in nature" (whatever that means?). Even under this broad interpretation the record does not support any conduct by Respondent, as a lawyer, which violated Rule 4-8.4(b).

On p.23 1.25 of the transcript of March 31, 1993,

complained of,

Respondent as a lawyer directed against anyone as a client.

Nor, was the conduct proved to have been committed knowingly

or unprovoked. Nor does the record substantiate such conduct

as "severely adversely reflecting on Respondent's fitness to

Whatever conduct

practice law".

"Q. Ms Wolowitz, are you aware that (Respondent) is an attorney?
A. Yes".

was

not conduct by

O.K., so what? Did Ms Wolowitz complain that she was a client and was mistreated as such? Did the witness testify that the relationship initially started out as client/lawyer

The Florida Bar, groping to make some sort of tie-in between Respondent's act(s) and his status as a lawyer questions witness Marcos Rojas (transcript p.37 1.8)

"I don't think the way he was acting that day was normal for any attorney, because normally an attorney has more standing and so forth...".

Now what does that mean? Sounds as if the witness was coaxed to make some sort of linkage to Respondent's being a lawyer. We may ask, what is normal for a lawyer? How should Respondent have acted had he not been a lawyer? How would have the witness reacted?

Can it really be argued that Respondent's conduct involved law practice offenses involving violence? Can it be argued and does the record support the Florida Bar's position on p.47 1.17 of the transcript of March 31, 1993 that,

"suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in criminal conduct that seriously adversely reflects on a lawyer's fitness to practice law?"

Where is even a scintilla of evidence to show that Respondent's act(s) was done "knowingly" or that Respondent's fitness to practice law was seriously adversely reflected? There indeed must be some evidence, even minimal to connect a lawyer's action to his fitness, actual or perceived, to practice law. The record is totally devoid of any such testimony.

Nevertheless, is the Florida Bar going so far as to say that if any lawyer has an argument with his spouse or lover and strikes them, that he/she should be subject to discipline by the Florida Bar? - simply because that person is a member of the Florida Bar? Is the Florida Bar claiming that if any member of the Florida Bar engages in an extra-marital affair (adultery is certainly a criminal act), but is not charged or convicted, (say the Florida Bar learns about it through a publicized divorce hearing) that he or she is subject to disciplinary action by the Florida Bar? Does the Florida Bar's jurisdiction extend to their member's bedroom too? Does the Florida Bar have a higher standard of justice, a different legal system than the courts of the State of Florida?

It is noted at this time that the only testimony of record of the hearing of March 31, 1993 concerning Respondent's act(s) and ramifications therefrom, was placed in the record by the Florida Bar. Respondent was not given an opportunity to rebut the testimony, to cross examine the witnesses or proffer his own version of the facts. (See argument 3 infra). Nevertheless, accepting the record as is, the facts as in the record, the Florida Bar did not prove and could not prove that Respondent committed a criminal act or any other act in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b). The referee's report, based on such a premise is therefore erroneous, unlawful, unjustified and prejudiced and should be rejected.

3. Respondent was denied his civil rights, due process of the law, the right to confront his accusers and the right to be heard. Respondent was punished for being financially unable to pay for the expensive long distance telephone call to the referee, as ordered by the referee for the April 29, 1993 telephonic hearing. The referee abused her discretion in ordering Respondent to pay for the long distance phone call as a precondition of making a telephonic appearance and as a precondition to be heard. The referee also abused her discretion in not granting Respondent's motion for a continuance.

This argument goes to Respondent's basic inalienable right to defend himself. It does not supersede arguments 1 and 2 supra as they stand on their own merits. Had Respondent been present at the hearing of March 31, 1993 and the hearing of April 29, 1993, certainly the record and the testimony would have been different. Respondent would have had the ability and opportunity to cross examine the witnesses against him, call his own witnesses, personally testify as well as make a statement on his own behalf. But he could not due to financial reasons, as Respondent clearly stated in his "motion for directed verdict and motion for continuance" served April 21, 1993.

IT IS INTERESTING AND NOTEWORTHY THAT NEITHER THE TRANSCRIPTS NOR THE REFEREE'S REPORT CONTAIN ANY REFERENCE TO RESPONDENT'S INABILITY TO BE PRESENT OR PLACE THE LONG DISTANCE TELEPHONE CALL DUE TO EXTREME FINANCIAL HARDSHIP.

The Florida Bar argues ("in the interest of justice?") that Respondent waved his right. The Florida Bar opines that since Respondent filed the "request for telephonic appearance" Respondent waved his right to cross examine the witnesses against Respondent. Question? Would the interest of justice, would the search for the truth have been thwarted had Respondent been given the right to cross examine the witnesses and testify? Even if Respondent had inadvertently waved such a right? Certainly the record would have been different.

In examining the sequence of events and the record we find: Respondent served the "motion for directed verdict and motion for continuance" on April 21, 1993. In the alternative Respondent moved that should the motion for directed verdict be denied a continuance, to allow Respondent an opportunity to cross examine all the witnesses who's testimony was of record, be granted. A new date and time for the telephonic hearing was requested. Respondent made it clear that Respondent was in serious financial difficulty and "on the verge of bankruptcy". Respondent stated he could not afford the cost of the long distance call. Respondent indicated to the referee that he would be standing by the phone at the designated time to receive a call on April 29, 1993 from the court or an agent of the court. At the very least Respondent felt the court would by phone or by mail notify him of another date and time to either place the call at Respondent's expense

or receive a call paid for by the court. This did not happen. What did happen is clearly found in the transcript of the hearing of April 29, 1993.

On p.4 l.1 of the transcript of April 29, 1993 the referee erroneously states that Respondent had agreed to place the call to the referee on April 29, 1993 at Respondent's expense. This is not so. The referee ordered Respondent to place the call at Respondent's expense. The referee then denied the "motion for direct verdict" by stating "it has no merit or substance at this time. I am denying the motion for directed verdict" (1.20-22). On the motion for continuance the referee stated that Respondent believed that

"Rose Wolowitz is a pathological liar and also that he contests the matters as set forth by the other witnesses" (1.3-9).

The referee goes on to state that

"this was the time for (Respondent) to respond by placing a telephone call at his expense (emphasis supplied)..." (1.10-13).

The motion for continuance was denied, the referee stating,

"there is no legal or factual reason why this court should continue these proceedings any further" (1.14-16).

(No other continuance was requested prior). Granted, on any request for a continuance there is rarely a hard and

fast legal or factual basis for granting or denying. But what was to have been lost? What harm would have ensued? Why did the referee not give Respondent the benefit of the doubt and why did the Florida Bar not only object to respondent's motion but took advantage of Respondent not being present? What was the Florida Bar afraid of? The other side of the story? The truth?

The Florida Bar claimed <u>"abuse of process"</u>. The Florida Bar on p.8 1.3-6 transcript of April 29, 1993 states,

"in this pleading (the motion for direct verdict) he has made statements about Mrs. Wolowitz... that are simply outrageous! The statements that are made in this particular pleading would not give the Florida Bar any opportunity to rehabilitate this particular witness. So again, he has abused the proceedings by making these statements" (1.2-12).

Is the Florida Bar really saying that respondent's his version of the incident of February 13, 1991 is "outrageous"? Could the truth be outrageous? Was the Florida Bar taken by surprise by the possible truth of Respondent's assertion? The Florida Bar then went on to request a 120 day suspension rather than the original 30 day request, without even giving Respondent the right to respond to the new and additional requested disciplinary measures.

What would Respondent's testimony have been had Respondent been afforded an opportunity to cross examine

and to testify? What would Respondent have elicited from the witnesses? Certainly there would have been another side, a balance in the facts. Another version for the referee to ponder. (Although no matter what Respondent had been able to elicit or testify to, it would appear that the referee was determined to find Respondent guilty and impose a draconian penalty).

Reviewing the testimony of Rose Wolowitz (p.11-37, hearing of March 31, 1993) Respondent stands steadfast on his ability to break this witness's testimony. As Respondent stated in his motion for continuance p.5

"Mrs. Wolowitz has to protect herself and her family for a second time from the shame she caused herself, she is a drunk, a "coke user", conspirator to defraud. She slept with her ex-boyfriend while engaged to a certain well known doctor, and while later engaged to respondent, the witness was beaten up by her ex-boyfriend on the night of February 13, 1991, the witness Rose Wolowitz pleaded with Respondent not to leave her, that she blocked Respondent's ability to leave her room and that the witness came back to Respondent's apartment after February 13, 1991 - specifically on March 2, 1991 (see attached parking permit from apartments, where Respondent lived. Delvista and that Rose Wolowitz appendix-3) is pathological liar".

These "outrageous" statements could have been proved at the civil trial and the misdemeanor trial. Rose Wolowitz told the same lies to the referee as she told to the State Attorney and as her lawyer drafted in the civil complaint. (Also it should be noted that as the witness testified to on p.30 1.20 of the March 31, 1993 transcript, January 25, 1991 was not the first time Respondent was at the witness's home. Indeed Respondent had been sleeping there for the previous 5 months).

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