OCT 1 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

والمحمدة فيرديه المراجع

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

Supreme Court Case No. 80,857

BARRY D. SCHREIBER,

Respondent.

On Petition for Review

Answer Brief of Complainant

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel TFB # 360929 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent, in his Initial Brief, asserts four points of appeal. The Respondent alleges that the allegations of the complaint filed by The Florida Bar are not proved, that there is no violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct, that he was denied due process and finally that the disciplinary measures imposed are erroneous, unlawful, unjustified and prejudiced. In it's answer brief, The Florida Bar will discount all points alleged by the Respondent by showing through case law and Bar rules that the ruling made by the referee should stand.

The Florida Bar will show that because a commission of a criminal act was made by the Respondent as indicated by his nolo contendere plea, as well as the testimony of the victim as to the other incident Respondent was in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

The Florida Bar will also show that the determination of a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct was made as a result of a complete and fair Florida Bar disciplinary proceeding.

Finally, The Florida Bar will demonstrate that as a result of the commission of criminal acts and as a result of there being a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct, the appropriate disciplinary measures were imposed by the Referee.

- 7 -

POINTS ON APPEAL

1

WHETHER THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT HAVE BEEN PROVEN?

2

WHETHER A VIOLATION OF RULE 4-8.4(b) OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT HAS BEEN PROVEN?

3

WHETHER THE RESPONDENT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OR THE RIGHT TO CROSS EXAMINE HIS ACCUSERS?

4

WHETHER THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINARY MEASURES ARE ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL OR PREJUDICIAL? (RESTATED)

ARGUMENT

1

THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT ARE PROVEN

The Respondent contends that as a result of his entering a plea of nolo contendere, adjudication withheld and his record sealed and expunged, an inference can be made that no criminal act was committed. On the contrary, the Court, in <u>Vernold v. State</u>, 376 So. 2d 1166,1167 (Fla. 1979) decided that a "plea of nolo contendere...admitted the facts alleged in the information." The Court further finds that the defendant "may not now challenge these facts as he is attempting to do in this appeal." <u>Id</u>. at 1167. Based on the reasoning of <u>Vernold</u>, <u>supra</u>, the facts alleged in the information are admitted by the Respondent's nolo contendere plea, and The Florida Bar may pursue its disciplinary proceeding against the Respondent on that basis alone.

Assuming, however, <u>arquendo</u>, that as the Respondent claims, his plea resulted in a finding of not guilty, a violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar nevertheless is present. On page eleven of the Respondent's brief, Respondent, believing that he was found not guilty asks "[c]an the Florida Bar come now and claim that Respondent did commit a criminal act...?" <u>See Respondent's Initial Brief, p. 11</u>. The answer to his question is yes. <u>See, The</u> Florida Bar v. Lancaster, 448 So. 2d 1019 (Fla. 1984).

> Lancaster claims that he cannot be found guilty of counts one and two because the only evidence presented in support of these two counts was the fact that he pleaded nolo contendere to two misdemeanors. He points out that adjudication of guilt on these offenses was withheld. Lancaster argues that his plea

> > - 9 -

of nolo contendere was an admission of the facts alleged in the information only for purposes of that particular proceeding and could not be used as evidence in this proceeding. He asserts that his plea of nolo contendere does not by itself constitute a violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility and that there was insufficient proof that he was guilty of the misdemeanors charged. Id. at 1021.

Id, at 1021

The Court, in response to these claims made by that respondent, stated "[w]e disagree with these contentions. We...note that the admission of the nolo contendere plea into evidence was proper." <u>Id</u>. In any event, the Florida Bar submitted extensive evidence to prove that Respondent had engaged in conduct that constituted a crime. Thus, the Florida Bar did not rely solely on Respondent's nolo contendere plea.

Keeping in the spirit of the Respondent's reasoning wherein he believes himself to have been acquitted as a result of his nolo contendere plea and therefore the referee's report should be rejected, it has been determined that an "acquittal of attorney in criminal proceeding does not necessarily bar disciplinary proceedings." <u>See, The Florida Bar v. Swickle</u>, 589 So. 2d 901, 902 (Fla. 1991).

Finally, the Respondent argues his alleged innocence further by reiterating several times that his record was sealed and expunged. He then asks "[w]hy did the Florida Bar...fail to place into evidence the order of January 8, 1992 sealing and expunging the record? Were they afraid that it clearly exonerated Respondent?" <u>See Respondent's Initial Brief, p. 12</u>. The record in these proceedings reflects that the Florida Bar successfully moved to

- 10 -

unseal Respondent's criminal record. In fact, Respondent argued against such action before the Judge who heard the underlying battery charge. Should Respondent have felt this item to be of consequence he could have appeared at the final hearing and attempted its submission as evidence to the Referee. In any event, there is no dispute that the record was sealed. <u>See, The Florida</u> <u>Bar's Motion to Obtain Documents From Sealed File and Order</u>. (Appendix B).

Based on the above court findings, the Respondent is devoid of any defenses. Should he assert his nolo contendere plea as a defense against The Florida Bar proceedings against him, either as a proclamation of innocence or as neither innocence nor guilt, the Bar may still implement disciplinary action against him.

ARGUMENT

2

A VIOLATION OF RULE 4-8.4(B) OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT IS PROVEN

Based on the above argument, the Referee having found (and the Respondent having admitted by virtue of his nolo contendere plea) that the facts alleged and the facts charged in the information are true, then he is in violation of Rule 4-8.4(b) (a lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects). The violence for which the Respondent was charged and abuse of the Bar proceedings mark clear examples the of professional misconduct in need of discipline. Florida Statute Section 784.03 defines a battery such that "(1) a person commits battery if he (a) actually and intentionally touches or strikes another person against the will of the other; or (b) intentionally causes bodily harm to an individual. (2) Whoever commits battery shall be guilty of misdemeanor of the first degree ... "

As testified to during the final hearing the Respondent's physical and violent contact with Ms. Wolowitz was clearly against her will and caused bodily harm thereby committing a battery, a crime. Ms. Wolowitz testified that while the Respondent was striking her, she told Respondent to "...please stop. I want to get out of here... Stop. Get out of here." (TR1. 15). Additionally, Ms. Wolowitz states that she was bruised, sustained ear drum injury and suffered from a swollen lip. (TR1. 17).

The Respondent asks the Court to make no connection between

his violent behavior (if accepted as true) and his fitness to practice law. The Court cannot ignore this connection as comments to The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, Rule 4-8.4 states that:

> [m]any kinds of conduct illegal reflect adversely fitness practice on to law...[t]raditionally, the distinction was drawn in offenses concerning some matters of morality, such as adultery and personal comparable offenses, that have no specific connection to fitness for the practice of law. Although a lawyer is personally answerable to the entire criminal law, a lawyer should be professionally answerable only for offenses that indicate lack of those characteristics relevant to law practice. Offenses involving violence...are in that category.

> > (Emphasis added)

ARGUMENT

3

THE RESPONDENT WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS NOR THE RIGHT TO CROSS EXAMINE HIS ACCUSERS.

The Respondent continually alleges in his brief that he was not afforded due process by The Florida Bar. This is simply not the case. In fact, Respondent claimed that due to financial hardships he was unable to attend the final hearing in the disciplinary case. Therefore, the Respondent requested a telephonic hearing to be held after the final hearing and after a transcript was made available to him. <u>See, Request for Telephonic</u> <u>Appearance</u>. (Appendix C). The Florida Bar responded to this request by agreeing to Respondent's proposal. Respondent was noticed of the date and time to place a phone call to the Referee. No such call was made. (TR2. 5, 13)

The Respondent maintains that because he was not present at the final hearing, he was unable to properly present his side and cross-examine the witnesses. The opportunity for the Respondent's participation was made available. Respondent was never prevented from appearing or participating. He chose no to do so.

- 14 -

ARGUMENT

4

THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINARY MEASURES ARE NOT ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL NOR PREJUDICIAL (RESTATED)

The Respondent contends that the punishment imposed is harsh and "tantamount to disbarment." In fact, the discipline administered is well within the appropriate sanctions provided for by both case law and Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The Respondent points out that the length of suspension is unreasonable, completing the ethics part of the bar exam in unprecedented and costs are unjustified.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Jones</u>, 403 So. 2d 1340 (Fla. 1981) the Court found that "[e]ngaging in conduct prejudicial to administration of justice which adversely reflects on fitness to practice law warrants six-month suspension." In deciding the appropriate discipline, it is essential that the "Supreme Court must be primarily guided by the welfare of the public and the legal profession." <u>See, The Florida Bar v. Riccardi</u>, 264 So.2d 5,6 (Fla. 1972).

Further, Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 7.2 provides that "suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional, and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system." Further, Standard 5.12 states that "suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in criminal conduct which is not included within Standard 5.11 and that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice." In regards to taking the legal ethics portion of the bar exam, other courts have found this sanction to be appropriate in completing the disciplinary process in certain cases. For example, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Routh</u>, 414 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 1982), it was decided that "...committing crimes of...aggravated battery and aggravated assault warrants...successfully complet[ing] all three parts of state bar examination." In another case it was ordered that along with a three month suspension, the "passage of ethics portion of State Bar Examination" was proper for reinstatement. <u>See, The Florida Bar v. Shapiro</u>, 413 So.2d 1184,1185 (Fla. 1982).

Additionally, Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 2.8, provides that other sanctions, in addition to the typical admonishment, probation, suspension and disbarment, include "requirement that the lawyer take the bar examination or professional responsibility examination."

Finally, the Respondent asserts that the judgment of costs is unjustified. This statement is devoid of any factual basis. "Assessing cost of discipline on one who misbehaves, rather than on those who do not misbehave, is justified." <u>See, The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Gold</u>, 526 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988). Similarly, "[c]osts incurred by counsel for the bar in a disciplinary proceeding would be ordered paid by the subject of the proceeding." <u>See, The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>White</u>, 284 So.2d 690,691 (Fla. 1973).

Also, as cited above, Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provides for additional remedies including "assessment of costs." The Bar incurred costs of copying federal express, court reporters and administrative costs involved in bar proceedings.

- 16 -

Therefore, the assessment of costs in this case is justified.

The Respondent was granted the full, fair proceeding allotted to all respondents in a disciplinary case. It is clearly the actions and the behaviors of the Respondent that have placed him in the situation he now finds himself and not the harshness, unfairness and prejudices of The Florida Bar or the referee as the Respondent so claims.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, The Florida Bar submits that the commission of a criminal act was proved, that the fact that a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct was proved, that due process was extended and that the appropriate discipline was recommended by the Referee.